IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID	J. Williams	
OCL	2 1009 V	•
	SEME COURT	

JAMES ERNEST HITCHCOCK,

Appellant,

vs .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 72,200

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the 9th Judicial Circuit In and For Orange County, Florida)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
The Governmental Center/9th Floor
301 North Olive Avenue
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

STEVEN H. MALONE
Bar No. 305545
ERIC M. CUMFER
Bar No. 0764663
Assistant Public Defenders

Counsel for Appellant

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Statement of the Case.

James Ernest Hitchcock was indicted for premeditated murder in the death of Cynthia Amn Driggers. R 1357. He was convicted as charged and sentenced to death. This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. Hitchcock v. State, 413 So. 2d 741 (Fla. 1982), cert. denied 459 U.S. 960 (1982). A Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence was denied, and this Court affirmed in Hitchcock v. State, 432 So. 2d 42 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Hitchcock filed a habeas corpus petition in the United States District Court, which denied relief. A panel. of the Eleventh Circuit affirmed that denial, Hitchcock v. Wainwright, 745 F. 2d 1332 (11th Cir. 1985). The en banc court vacated the panel's decision, but then affirmed. Hitchcock v. Wainwright, 770 F. 2d 1514 (11th Cir. 1985) (en banc). The Supreme Court granted certiorari and vacated the death sentence, ordering the writ to be granted unless Florida reaentenced Mr. Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S.Ct 1821 (1987).

The trial court heard several defense motions before the sentencing proceeding.' The sentencing hearing was held before jury, which recommended death by a vote of 7 to 5. R 1473. On February 24, 1988, after hearing additional evidence, the trial court sentenced Mr. Hitchcock to death. R 1498.

The court found four statutory aggravating circumstances and numerous mitigating circumstances, R 1517-1519, and imposed the sentence of death. Mr. Hitchcock filed a Notice of Appeal on March 23, 1988. R 1522.

- B. Statement of the facts.
- 1. The Character of Mr. Hitchcock.
 - i. Life of James Ernest Hitchcock before the death of Cynthia Driggers.

The Court granted the defense Motion in Limine - Previous Sentence. R 1367-1368, 1277. The Court denied the defense Motion to Preclude Imposition of Sentence of Death - Delay. R 1371-1373, 1302, and the defense Motion to Reetrict Potential Aggravating Factors. R 1374-1375, 1313. The Court quashed a subpoena for Assistant State Attorney Micetich and ordered no mention of plea bargaining be made and denied a defense motion to prohibit the state from arguing the case merits a death sentence. R 13. The Court granted a defense motion to prohibit victim impact testimony, R 16, but denied a defense motion to restrict the state from arguing the jury's role was merely advisory. R 19.

James Ernest "Ernie" Hitchcock² was born in 1956 in Osceola, Arkansas and was raised in a town called Manila. R 908, 1034. The area was severely underdeveloped, the local economy dependent almost entirely on growing cotton. R 837-8, 887, 894. Even by the 1980's, indoor plumbing had not been installed in his mother's house. R 887. Picking and chopping (weeding) cotton did not become mechanized until the 1970's. R 836, 892. Children would work and dropped out of school at a young age to support their families. R 836, 891, 894. They married and began new families as young teenagers. R 1049.

For Mr. Hitchcock, hard times began at age seven when his father died of facial cancer after a long illness. R 890-1, 1034, 1161. The youngster was strongly affected by this death. R 894. The family, which then had six or seven dependent children, R 893, lost a major source of income, and Mr. Hitchcock's mother was hard pressed to make ends meet. R 918, 1161. She continued working in the cotton fields. R 1035, 1161. She made her children clothing out of flour sacks. R 1165. The house had no indoor plumbing; the family had to put cardboard on its walls in an effort to keep out the cold. R 923. When the seasonal cotton jobs ended, the family got by on social security of \$60.00 a month. R 1165.

Although the local schools timed classes to coincide with the cotton season, Ernie Hitchcock was not able to stay in school past the seventh grade. R 1034, 1165. He began picking cotton at age eight or nine and chopping it at ten or eleven. R 1035, 1166. Much of his money went to the support of his family. R 1161, 1162. Manila was an all white town, but Mr. Hitchcock attended largely black schools. R 1038. He often worked with black people; he never showed signs of racial prejudice. R 1037-8.

When Mr. Hitchcock was thirteen, his mother married Ed Galloway, an alcoholic who verbally abused and beat Mr. Hitchcock's mother, especially when he was drunk. R 895-6, 918, 1035, 1163. The beatings were severe and at least once resulted in injuries to his mother which should have been treated, but were not. R 1163. Mr. Hitchcock became angry and distressed and left home around age thirteen. R 921, 1035-6, 1164. Through his teenage years, he stayed with various family members including his Uncle Charlie Hitchcock, sonny Hitchcock and his

James Ernest Hitchcock has a brother named James H. "Sonny" Hitchcock. For clarity's sake, this brief will refer to James Ernest Hitchcock as Mr. Hitchcock or Ernie Hitchcock and James H. Hitchcock as Sonny Hitchcock.

wife, Richard and Judy Hitchcock, and his grandmother. R 897, 909, 924, 1036.3

Elizabeth McMahon, an expert in forensic psychology, R 1114, testified that a life sentence was appropriate €or Mr. Hitchcock. She had provided sixteen clemency recommendations in the past, but only recommended clemency in three, including Mr. Hitchcock. R 1140. she conducted a clinical interview and administered formal psychological tests upon Mr. Hitchcock. R 1114-5. McMahon testified that Mr. Hitchcock suffered from emotional neglect as a child. R 1121. The death of his father at an age when most children internalize parental discipline contributed to later immaturity. R 1123. His mother was emotionally abeent because of financial difficulties. R 1124. Mr. Hitchcock only remembered his stepfather for his abuse of his mother and for taking him to a bar. R 1125. He lacked role models to show how to handle anger and stress. R 1122. His reactions to social problems were immature: he would run away, repress, avoid, and deny. R 1122. Richard was hie primary male role model. R 1125. By the time he was twenty, Ernie Hitchcock depended on avoidance and had no other coping mechanism for anxiety. R 1129. He was likely to take the blame for others, especially Richard, and had low self-worth. R 1130.4

Mr. Hitchcock worked hard, although not continually, after leaving home. R 1036, 1042. He contributed money to the family members with whom he lived and took care of his sisters' children. R 897, 912. Mr. Hitchcock testified he was a good worker. R 1042. During this time, Mr. Hitchcock saved the life of his

The defense proffered testimony of Martha Galloway and Brenda Reed, sisters of Richard and Ernie Hitchcock, that Richard Hitchcock sexually and physically assaulted them when they were youngsters. R 1012-3, 1015-7. The trial court excluded evidence of Richard's violence against his sisters as irrelevant. R 1099-1101. However, the State was allowed to establish that Carroll Galloway, a defense witness who resides in Arkansas, did not have a criminal record, R 840-3, and argue Mr. Hitchcock's upbringing did not reduce his culpability since those raised in like circumstances were law abiding. R 1213.

On cross, the State brought out the doctor's belief that as a young man, Mr. Hitchcock might have sudden reactions if his avoidance did not work. R 1147. He might exercise poor judgment. R 1150.

A gaod deal of testimony about Mr. Hitchcock's work habits was lost due to the delay in hearing his case. The defense proffered hearsay testimony to attempt to make up for this loss. Two declarants, Charlie Hitchcock (Ernie Hitchcock's uncle) and G.E. Motley (a farmer in Arkansas) both of whom are dead, had said Ernie Hitchcock worked under their supervision and was an excellent worker. R 846, 850. A police officer, also deceased, would have confirmed that Ernie Hitchcock had a reputation for hard work in his community. R 849. His supervisors told how Mr. Hitchcock got along well with the other workers and did not get into fights. R 849, 850-1. The State objected that the proffer was unrebuttable hear-

uncle, Charlie Witchcock, at some risk to his own. His uncle fell into a canal and could not swim. R 910. Mr. Hitchcock jumped in and managed to get him out.

Lhid. The jury heard about the incident through Wayne Hitchcock, Mr. Hitchcock's cousin, but the uncle had since died. R 911. The Court refused a hearsay proffer of the uncle's version of what happened. R 851, 874, 942.

One night, when he was seventeen, Mr. Hitchcock and a friend began daring each other, and Mr. Hitchcock and another broke into five businesses. R 1038-9. They were caught and the property was returned. R 1039. Mr. Hitchcock was found guilty of the crimes and sent to prison. R 1040. After prison Mr. Hitchcock could not find work, so he and his cousin came to Florida to pick fruit. R 913, 1040. This move violated the terms of his Arkansas parole; he was on parole at the time of the offense. R 695, State Exhibit P-1.

ii. Mr. Hitchcock's future non-dangerousness, ability to succeed in prison, and improvements in character while in prison.

a. Mitigating circumstances allowed in evidence.

Two experts testified to Mr. Hitchcock's <u>current</u> social abilities and character. Elizabeth McMahon had recently reinterviewed Mr. Bitchcock and found significant changes in him compared to her earlier evaluation. While there were remnants of avoidance and dependency needs, he had much better interpersonal skills. R 1133. He could verbalize better, modulate his emotions, R 1134, and be empathetic. R 1133. Being a mediator was consistent with his new skills and made violence less likely. R 1135-6. He was introspective and more philosophical. R 1136. McMahon stated Mr. Hitchcock should do well in the general prison population and be an asset due to changes in his character and partly based her recommendation on that conclusion. R 1139.

Michael Radelet was accepted as an expert in sociology to testify to the future non-dangerousness of Mr. Hitchcock. R 725.7 Radelet testified that the probability of future dangerousness by Mr. Hitchcock was minuscule. R 738. His

say and in most respects repetitious. R 862. The trial court sustained the hearsay objection. R 873-5, 942.

The prosecutor asked McMahon about a portion of her clemency report. The trial court denied a defense motion to introduce the entire document. \Re 1145.

Radelet has a Doctorate in Sociology and some post-doctorate education in psychiatry. R 723. He currently teaches at the University of Florida. R 722. He has testified numerous times and published widely. R 724-5.

opinion was based on a series of statistical categories' relating known variables of Mr. Hitchcock's history to future dangerousness. 9

The defense presented witnesses to establish Mr. Hitchcock's character development since entering prison. Eight death-row blockmates testified to positive acts by Mr. Hitchcock. Darryl Hay told how Mr. Hitchcock helped him get a radio after hie was stolen, shared canteen with him, and helped him study for his graduate equivalency degree. R 771-2. Arthur Dennis Rutherford testified how Mr. Hitchcock helped him adjust to life in prison. R 785-6. Amos Robinson testified that Mr. Hitchcock treated black inmates fairly despite racial tensions at the prison. Mr. Hitchcock also bought Robinson tennis shoes when he had none. R 793. James Morgan told how Mr. Hitchcock helped him read letters and taught him to read and write. R 798-9. Jerry White affirmed Morgan's testimony and added that Mr. Hitchcock never treated black people differently because of their color. R 810. Charles Kenneth Foster said Mr. Hitchcock talked him out of at- tacking a corrections officer. R 814. Jim Eric Chandler had seen much violence in prison, but never saw Mr. Hitchcock be violent; Mr. Hitchcock tries to help people. R 819. Gregory Kokal told how Mr. Hitchcock calmed two inmates about to fight. R 824.10

More education means less likelihood of future violence. R 734. Where violence occurs at a older age, future violence is less likely. R 735. No mental hospitalization correlates with future non-violence. R 736. Community ties make an inmate easier to control and less likely to commit violence while in prison. R 736. Homicides cammitted against family members are less likely to indicate Euture violence than homicides against strangers. R 737. A long history of violence getting progressively worse strongly indicates future violence. R 738. Degree of premeditation also correlates with future dangerousness. R 732.

⁹ The court sustained a State objection to questioning whether Radelet believed the crime at bar wae especially premeditated, R 733, or whether Mr. Hitchcock was well educated under the education category. R 735. Radelet did testify his opinion was based on his beliefs that Mr. Hitchcock had no significant history of mental hospitalization, R 736, had community ties, R 737, and no previous arrests for violent behavior. R 738.

All of the inmates admitted to felony convictions on direct exam. R 772, 785, 793, 799, 809, 814, 818, 823. On cross, the Court allowed the prosecutor to bring out that the witnesses had received death sentences over defense objections. R 777, 787, 794, 807, 811, 815, 821, 825. Most opposed the death penalty. R 780, 795, 807, 811, 816, 821, 826. Rutherford, Robinson, Kokal suggested they were not guilty of the crimes for which they were convicted. R 780, 795, 827. The prosecution brought out that the inmates did not know of Mr. Hitchcock's background and the crimes he committed except what he told them or what the newspapers said. R 778-9, 707, 795, 807, 811, 820, 825. Foster had read Mr. Hitchcock's trial transcript. R 815. Kokal admitted Florida State Prison was a closely supervised environment. R 825.

Richard Greene, Mr. Hitchcock's clemency attorney, proffered testimony in various areas, part of which was refused as set out below. Greene did testify that Mr. Hitchcock got his graduate equivalency degree in 1981. R 884. Mr. Hitchcock's mother testified that this GED was the family's first high school graduation in the family. R 1166. Greene related that Mr. Bitchcock began to read widely. R 884. He spoke about the 1984 elections and exhibited mare self-awareness and insight. R 885. His letters show increased verbal skills, R 006, and he continues to take college level correspondence courses. R 885.

Mr. Hitchcock's relatives testified he kept a regular correspondence with them, taking an interest in their affairs and trying to cheer them up. R 901-3, 904-6, 908, 1167-72. He often draw5 cards and pictures to his mother, R 1169-71, and does not complain of his own situation. R 902, 906, 1172.

Mr. Hitchcock himself testified about his development since entering prison, confirming much of the above. He said that after he and William Harvard tried to cut some bars in 1980 and were caught, he realized that he needed to change in prison. R 1065. He began educating himself and maturing. R 1062, 1066. Despite racial tensions in prison, he does not discriminate on the basis of race. R 1066. He has had seven disciplinary reports in eleven years. R 1058. Aside from the escape report, they included disobeying an order by refusing to come off the yard, R 1058, not shaving, R 1059, refusing a regulation haircut, R 1060, and unacceptable hygiene (found invalid due to his illness at the time). R 1063. He also destroyed state property when he took a panel off a door. R 1059. He was found guilty of disorderly conduct by unauthorized contact with a female visitor. R 1062.

b. Mitigating circumstances kept out of evidence.

The defense proffered mitigating testimony concerning Mr. Hitchcock's present character which was excluded by the trial court. Richard Greene was not allowed to testify that Mr. Bitchcock had undergone a tremendous change relative to other death row inmates with whom Greene had contact or that he showed

The prosecutor claimed over objection that the unauthorized contact with a female visitor which Mr. Hitchcock testified had occurred was masturbation. R 1073. Mr. Hitchcock denied masturbation had taken place. <u>Ibid</u>. Mr. Hitchcock also testified on direct that he was disciplined for the 1980 escape attempt, and that he never would have gotten out. R 1061. On cross, he admitted being forced by prison authorities to return a writing correspondent's money, but denied he had misled the person into sending it. R 1074-6.

maturity and self-reflection. R 856. The court ordered Greene not to testify Mr. Hitchcock displayed sympathy toward others and excluded his testimony about Mr. Hitchcock's friendship with David Washington and the effect of Washington's execution on Mr. Hitchcock. R 860. Mr. Hitchcock showed his sympathy for others in a powerful letter to Greene after Greene witnessed an execution. <u>Id</u>. The State's objection to this evidence was sustained over the defense contention that it was relevant to Mr. Hitchcock's character. R 865-6, 870, 871, 875.

The trial court and state accepted a speaking proffer as to other testimony by Greene, R 1099, that William Harvard, who was punished along with Hitchcock for cutting bars at the prison, had been sentenced to life, R 1100, but the trial court excluded the evidence as irrelevant. R 1101.

The court: excluded transcript testimony from the guilt phase of the officer to whom Mr. Hitchcock surrendered attesting that he had done so voluntarily. The court ruled defense counsel had not made a showing of unavailability.

The defense proffered Elizabeth McMahon's testimony about a study she had conducted comparing life-sentenced and death-sentenced inmates. The defense argued the testimony was relevant to give the jury an overview of who receives death sentences, R 1007-8; the court denied the proffer. R 1008.

The court accepted a memorandum by Radelet as a proffer of testimony. R 698, Court exhibit 1, Supp.R. Five of the six areas mentioned were excluded."

In addition, Radelet was not allowed to testify fully to the basis for his opinion that Mr. Hitchcock would not be dangerous in the future. R 733, 735.

2. The circumstances of Cynthia Driggers' murder.

The parties presented diametrically different versions of the murder of Cynthia Driggers. The State argued, in short, that Mr. Hitchcock sexually battered the girl and then strangled her to avoid detection and arrest. Mr. Hitchcock maintained that his brother found Cynthia and him after they had just finished voluntary sex, and that Richard lost his temper and strangled Cynthia

The trial court forbade testimony that Mr. Hitchcock's execution would not deter others. Radelet was prohibited from testifying about the cost of executing Mr. Hitchcock (one veniremember had expressed concern about the cost: of keeping defendants in prison for life, R 85), lingering doubt where the confession was retracted, and the conditions Mr. Bitchcock would face if sentenced to life and how those conditions would constitute retribution. The trial court sustained relevancy objections to these matters. R 705-6.

in a rage. Mr. Hitchcock helped his brother hide the body and made a false statement, in part, to spare his brother from prison.

i. The State's evidence.

On the night in question, the family was watching television. R 504. Cynthia, age thirteen, was the eldest of five children there. R 478-9. Mr. Hitchcock, who was residing at the home, went out drinking; the family retired with Cynthia going to bed before Richard, who locked up with Ernie not yet: home. R 505. The next morning, Judy Hitchcock could not find Cynthia. R 506. Richard testified he searched the neighborhood and drove around the area. R 506-7. Ernie Hitchcock was asleep and woke up later, <u>Ibid</u>, going with Richard to search the road. Richard eventually dropped him off to search in town. R 508. Richard returned home and found the body in some bushes in the backyard later that afternoon. R 509.

Richard denied involvement in his stepdaughter's death. R 512. He testified he had arthritis and that at the time of the crime, his spine was in a C shape, rendering him unable to lift Cynthia. R 510-1. He testified that he cooperated with the police and voluntarily gave hair and blood samples. R 513-4.

The police collected a wet shirt belonging to Mr. Hitchcock from the clothesline at Richard's house, R 490, 520, and a pair of jeans from the floor of the room Ernest Hitchcock used which (an expert later stated) had human blood of Cynthia's type. R 672. The medical examiner testified Cynthia Driggers was strangled and hit on the face and head, and died from strangulation. R 565. It would have taken one to three minutes for her to have died, R 572, and she would have passed out before death. R 574. The blows to the head happened before death. R 573. Several hairs were found on her body and vagina. R 488, 568. Testimony from the original trial by a hair expert, Diane Bass, was read to the jury over hearsay objections. R 592. The testimony was play acted with Steve Platt, the blood analyst now chief of operations Jacksonville Regional Crime Laboratory, R 663, reading the part of Diane Bass. According to that testimony, the hairs were consistent with those of Ernie Hitchcock or the victim and not

 $^{^{13}}$ On cross, he testified a subsequent accident and operation had straightened his spine. R 516.

consistent with those of Richard Hitchcock. R 631, 635-6, 636-8, 641. Semen retrieved from the vagina of Cynthia Driggers was from a blood secretor type consistent with Ernest Hitchcock's blood type. R 567.

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