#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

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

The proffered testimony of Brenda Reed and Martha Galloway to the effect that Richard Hitchcock had committed **acts** of physical and sexual violence upon them and others was properly excluded because the law of the case was **decided** on this issue in

- 41 -

Hitchcock I. This court held that the evidence was too remote in time to be relevant regarding the defense claim that Richard had committed the murder. Id., 744. The defense argues in part that "[t]he testimony here was relevant to show Richard's involvement in the murder and Mr. Hitchcock's lesser culpability, including his innocence of three statutory aggravators." (B 40). Even if the law of the case did not preclude consideration of this evidence, it could nonetheless not be properly considered on resentencing for the purpose of placing blame for the murder upon Richard because Hitchcock has no constitutional right to present "lingering doubt'' evidence in an effort to establish mitigating circumstances. King, supra, 15 F.L.W. S11 (citations omitted). As to the defense contentions that the evidence should have been admitted, the exclusion was harmless because similar evidence was introduced through other witnesses. His sisters detailed a violent home life (R 895; 920), which the court found (R 1519). Significantly, however, Brenda Reed testified that although their stepfather did not like the defendant, he did not hit him. His mother, as well, said that although her second husband would beat her when he got drunk, he never hit her in front of the children (R 1164). Some confusion on the part of the defense is apparent regarding who was testifying at one point and the significance of the witness' testimony:

> Mr. Hitchcock presented evidence of his violent, chaotic, and impoverished upbringing as mitigation; one witness to his early life was Carroll Galloway, and she testified <u>she</u> had no criminal record . . Even in the face of the state introducing evidence of the **lack** of

criminality of Carroll Galloway, the court **accepted** the prosecutor's contention that evidence of Richard's violence against his <u>sisters</u> was inadmissible

(**B** 36).

The defense contentions in the above regard are unfounded in fact as well as law because the testimony of this witness was unrelated to the defendant's home life. It dealt instead with the hard work in the cotton fields and the fact that the three witnesses that the defense claimed it wanted to call had died (R 834 - 840). More to the point, however, Carroll Galloway is not the defendant's sister, in fact there was no testimony that they are related. Furthermore, Mr. Carroll Galloway is not female. The defense apparently has confused him with the defendant's sister, Marshy Galloway (R 1012).

Martha Galloway later proffered testimony outside of the jury's presence that she had been sexually battered by Richard Hitchcock when she was young (R 1015 - 1017) and Richard had shot at two individuals on different occasions who had angered him (R Brenda Reed also testified that she had been sexually 1018). battered by Richard when she was a child (R 1013 - 1014). While these assertions could be relevant as "lingering doubt" evidence, and therefore inadmissible, the evidence was irrelevant as to mitigating circumstances in the defendant's early life experiences because no nexus was established between those alleged occurrences and the defendant. That is to say, neither sister testified that the defendant had witnessed or was aware of the violent acts that they claimed had been committed by Richard Hitchcock.

- 43 -

The defense claim that the court erred in excluding portions of the transcripts which contained the testimony of two police officers given during the guilt phase is unfounded. The court did not exclude the evidence. The court preferred live testimony, so it instructed the prosecutor to attempt to contact deputy Hanson (R 714) and ruled as to the prior testimony of the other officer: "I would, at this time, restrict the introduction until you have at least made a, an inquiry as to whether Doss is available to testify." (R 715). The state succeeded in locating Hanson, who came to the courthouse and was available to the defense (R 782 - 783). The prosecutor advised the court that Doss was employed with a law enforcement agency in Hillsborough County. The court instructed: "See if you can get in touch with him between now and the time we'll present his testimony. See if he's available." (R 790), The defense now points out that " . . . whether he was contacted by either party is unclear from the record." (B 41, n. 49). The reason it is unclear is that the defense never subsequently sought either to call him or introduce his earlier testimony in the event of his absence. Despite the fact that the state had secured Hanson's presence, the defense never called him either. As a consequence of its own inaction, the claim the defense now wishes to advance was waived below. Procedural bar aside, the fact that Doss had earlier testified that the defendant turned himself in was put before the jury during the questioning of Detective Nazarchuk, Defense counsel pointed the testimony out to the detective in an effort to refresh his recollection whether the defendant had turned himself

- 44 -

in (R 531). Further, it is clear by the written findings that the court considered the defendant's voluntary surrender (R 1520).

trial court properly limited the testimony of The а sociologist, Dr. Michael Radelet. The court permitted the witness to not only give his opinions but to testify to the underlying bases (R 729). The prosecutor objected to the testimony by the witness that the murder was not premeditated (R The court properly sustained the objection because it was 732). the law of the case that the murder was premeditated as Hitchcack stood convicted of first degree premeditated murder. The next objection was made to the witness testifying that the defendant had received a high school equivalency diploma (R 735). Although the court sustained the objection, it noted that the testimony was in and it did not strike it. A copy of the diploma itself was introduced into evidence in any event (defense exhibit P-1). Further, the defense claims that this evidence was relevant to establish the future nondangerousness of the defendant (B 43), but if there was any error it was harmless because the court found that to be a mitigating factor (R 1520).

The defense argument that the court erred in refusing to introduce **the** entire clemency report is facially invalid. It **provides in relevant part:** 

In examining McMahon, the prosecutor with her clemency report in hand asked her about a factor mentioned in the report to which <u>she had not</u> <u>testified</u>.

This ruling violated the principle that an entire prior, inconsistent, written statement used

in part to impeach must be admitted upon request of the opposing party . .

(B 44, emphases added).

If the witness did not testify on a given issue, as the defense here admits, then a prior statement cannot possibly be inconsistent with any answer she may have given on **the** issue. However, contrary to the defense contention, the prosecutor was asking the doctor about something which **she** had testified to. His question was:

> Now, I am looking at your, at a your of 1983 report and COPV wondering how the your mentioning in there of distancing emotional the components and Ι suspect that relates in here somewhere, but I am not sure. Would you advise me, please, ma'm?

(R 1145).

Much of her testimony regarded emotional distancing by the defendant,  $\underline{e.q.}$ , she said that Hitchcock's method to deal with **stress** " . . . was simply to avoid, avoid the emotional impact of what was happening to him." (R 1126). The question asked simply did not discredit the witness or her testimony in any way. Beyond that, the questions which followed show clearly that the prosecutor was merely referring to the report as a point of reference, he never once confronted the witness with the report claiming an inconsistency. The court correctly denied the defense request to introduce the psychologist's report because the prosecutor's questions represented quintessential cross examination and nothing more.

The trial court correctly excluded the introduction of the preferred study of Dr. McMahon's which compared the characteristics of samples of murderers who received the d ath penalty vis-a-vis those who received life. Parenthetically, i.e., because the court did not exclude the evidence on this basis, the defense contends consistently with the doctor's testimony below that her sample was representative (B 44; R 997). Although the sample size was limited to 30 death row inmates, who admittedly were not drawn at random, the doctor insisted it was a representative sample. The doctor pointed out that they " . . . had no reason to believe that it was not a random population.'' Td. She insisted that the sample was demographically representative and did not result from preconceived notions, However, anyone who has framed a hypothetical is aware that there is a tendency to frame an issue in such a way so as to prove up one's own theory. Be that as it may, the defense argues that the evidence was relevant because it related to the characteristics of the defendant and the **need** for death as a punishment. That portion of the argument which relates to the defendant's characteristics is procedurally barred because that ground was not presented to the trial court. Also, that information comprised much of this witness' testimony anyway. The other prong, the need for the **death** penalty was presented, but was correctly rejected by the trial court which ruled: "I think proportion [sic] review is a consideration, but it's not one for this trial court or the sentencing jury at this point.'' (R 1008). The proportionality review is a function of this court.

- 47 -

In <u>Smalley v. State</u>, the doctrine of proportionality was defined as ". . a process whereby <u>this Court</u> compares the circumstances present before it to similar cases." 546 So.2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1989, emphasis added). Furthermore, employing a passage from the <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>:

> "Nothing in this opinion [Lockett] limits the traditional authority of a court to exclude, as irrelevant, evidence not bearing on the defendant's character, prior record, the circumstances of his or offense," Id. at n. 12. Testimony [compared the sentences that of murderers] is irrelevant to [Hitchcock's character, prior record, or the circumstances of the crime.

15 F.L.W. S12.

Evidence of a plea bargain offer of life imprisonment was properly excluded. The defense erroneously argues that §90.410 does not say anything about plea bargain offers made by the state **(B** 45). In material part it provides that "[e]vidence of statements made in connection with any pleas or offers is inadmissible, except when such statements are offered in a prosecution under Chapter 837 [perjury]." Obviously, the prosecutor who extends an offer has to make it by way of a statement. The defense argues also that even if the evidence code does bar the admission of this evidence that its admission was required under Lockett because it was relevant in that it undercut the state's argument for death. Even if that view is correct, the claim was waived below because the defense never attempted to introduce the evidence during the trial. The issue was argued prior by way of pretrial motion. This, however, was

insufficient to preserve the issue for review because the judge granted the state's motion in limine without prejudice to the defense seeking to introduce evidence of the plea bargain offer if it became relevant based upon the evidence introduced at trial (R 14). <u>Cf. Provenzano v. State</u>, 497 **So.2d** 1177, 1181 - 1182 (Fla. 1986); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 193, 194 (Fla. 5th DCA **1983**). In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the evidence of a plea bargain offer. The action was proper because the evidence involve any aspect of the defendant's character, his record, or any circumstances of the offense. <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The evidence proffered through Michael Radelet that it would cost more to execute Hitchcock than to keep him in prison for the rest of his life, his execution would have no deterrent effect, a life sentence was adequate retribution, and there was lingering doubt were properly excluded. None of these are relevant to the defendant's character or prior record. Only lingering doubt may be relevant to the circumstances of the crime, but it is not proper evidence of mitigating circumstances. <u>King</u>, <u>supra</u>. As a result, there was no error.

The defense cannot prevail on its assorted claims under this point because the court ruled correctly and many of the grounds were waived. Furthermore, even if the judge erred it is clear that the exclusion of evidence was harmless for a reason more fundamental than those already discussed. The judge rather than the jury is the sentencer in Florida. <u>Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So.2d **833**, **839** (Fla. **1988**). The judge below was exposed to all

of the evidence when proffered. He did nat even find it sufficiently relevant to introduce, so the excluded evidence unquestionably would not have affected his sentencing decision.

#### Point Five

THIS CONTENTION WAS WAIVED. THE GUILT PHASE TESTIMONY OF DIANE BASS WAS PROPERLY PRESENTED TO THE RESENTENCING JURY.

The argument presented to this court was waived below because it is not the argument which was presented to the trial court. The defense argument below was that the evidence was irrelevant in determining aggravating and mitigating factors (R 584, 585, 587, 588). One point which was raised below is echoed here. The defense claims that the state still had **the** relevant evidence. It is argued that the state could have retested it and presented live testimony (B **48**, n. 55; R 584 - 585). Although the hair samples were still in the state's possession, there was no attempt by the defense to establish that a reliable comparison was still a viable possibility after eleven years. At no point did the defense argue that the defendant was denied his right to confrontation, as is argued now.

This defense claim is controlled by the holding of this court in <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 534 \$0.2d 701 (Fla. 1988), that guilt phase evidence may properly be presented through a different witness. In that case a detective recited during resentencing proceedings the guilt phase testimony of a police chief, another detective, and a state expert. The trial court there was held not to have abused its discretion by permitting presentation of the evidence in this manner. The opinion pointed out:

> Both the state and the defendant can present evidence at the penalty phase that might have been barred at trial because a "narrow interpretation of the rules of evidence is not to be enforced."

Id., 703 (citations omitted); see also Teffeteller v. State, 495
So.2d 744 (Fla. 1986).

The defense contends that the prosecutor failed to show that Diane Bass was unavailable (B 47). To the contrary, however, the prosecutor advised the court that she no longer worked for the crime lab and that a diligent search had been **made** for her (R 583 - 584).

The defense also argues that the defendant was denied his right to confrontation of an adverse witness. However, "[a] resentencing is not a retrial of the defendant's guilt or innocence." Chandler, 703 (citation omitted). In support of its contention the defense cites Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1989) [cited 14 F.L.W. 343]. However, that case is readily distinguishable because it involved the admission of one of Rhodes earlier victim's taped statements regarding the violent crimes he had committed upon her in Nevada. The evidence below was not hearsay related to a completely independent prosecution. It was evidence presented during the guilt phase of this very trial, during which the defense did in fact confront the witness for the state, Because the testimony of Diane Bass was repeated in its entirety the jurors at the resentencing were privy to the earlier confrontation, Stated simply, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing its admission.

#### Point Six

THE CONTENTIONS MADE ARE BOTH PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

The defense contentions are barred because any objections voiced below were untimely. Further, the bases asserted now cannot be entertained because these were not the grounds presented to the trial court. Bertolotti, supra.

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